City of Geneva, Illinois

Local Historic District & Landmarks
Property Inventory Survey

GENERAL PROPERTY INFORMATION:

PROPERTY ADDRESS:

227 North Fourth Street

PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (PIN):

12-03-402-001

HISTORIC NAME: Geneva Grade School

COMMON NAME: Fourth Street School / Coultrap Admin. Center

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1915-1916

SIGNIFICANT ALTERATION DATES: ca. 1994, ca. 2012

ARCHITECT: Hewitt & Emerson

BUILDER: C. W. Karr Contractors
WILSON BROTHERS: O AuGUST [J OSCAR [Z1BOTH

ARCHITECTURAL DATA:

ARCHITECTURAL STYLE: Late Classical Revival

OVERALL PLAN SHAPE: Rectangular

LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE RATING:

NUMBER OF STORIES: 2

[ ] significant

FOUNDATION MATERIAL: Poured Concrete

|z| Contributing

PRIMARY WALL MATERIAL(S): Brick Veneer / Structural Clay Tile

|:| Non-Contributing — Built After 1987

|:| Non-Contributing — Reversible Alterations

FRONT PORCH: No

|:| Non-Contributing — Irreversible Alterations

VISIBLE SIDE PORCH: No

HISTORIC DISTRICT LOCATION:

ENTRY DOOR(S): Commercial Entry

|:| Central Geneva NRHD

WINDOW MATERIAL: Undetermined

|E| North Geneva NRHD

WINDOW STYLE: Fixed / Awning

|E| Local Geneva HD

PRIMARY ROOF FORM: Flat

|:| Not in HD / Individual Historic Landmark

PRIMARY ROOF MATERIAL: Membrane

NR DISTRICT SIGNIFICANCE RATING:

VISIBLE CHIMNEY: Yes

|E| Contributing

|:| Non-Contributing

CHIMNEY MATERIAL: Brick

|:| Not Applicable / Not in NR District

OTHER SIGNIFICANT ARCHITECTURAL FEATURES:

Limestone sills, lintels, entry pediments, coping, voussoirs, gridded
medallions, and architectural details; decorative brick panels; glazed
tile accent panels at entry pavilions.

HPC ACTION:

|:| Demolition Approved: n/a

Other HPC Action: /g




City of Geneva, Illinois
Local Historic District & Landmarks
Property Inventory Survey

ADDITIONAL PROPERTY INFORMATION:

PROPERTY ADDRESS:

227 North Fourth Street

BRIEF HISTORICAL DESCRIPTION:

Construction of the Geneva Grade School began in October 1915
and was substantially completed in October 1916. The school was
designed by the Peoria-based architectural firm Hewitt & Emerson.

Herbert Hewitt (1871-1944) established his architectural firm in 1897
and was joined by Frank Emerson (1876-1959) in 1909. Both men
were educated at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT).
Hewitt received additional instruction at the University of lllinois and
the University of Chicago. Emerson received additional instruction at
Princeton University and the Ecole des Beaux-Arts (Paris, France).
Specializing in schools, the architectural firm designed numerous
civic and residential commissions throughout central Illinois.

Although some accounts identify the Wilson Brothers as the
contractors for the Geneva Grade School, they were outbid by C. W.
Karr (Clinton, lllinois) and Goodale & Sons (Peru, lllinois) when the
bids were opened in early October 1915. However, all bids were over

SOURCES:

Geneva Republican; The Ohio Architect, Engineer & Builder (Vol. 25, No. 2, pp. 9-44);
Decatur Review (Decatur, lllinois: 26 December 1916, p. 10), 2016 North Geneva
NRHP Update; Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps; Geneva, lllinois: A History of Its Times
Land Places

CONTRIBUTING ACCESSORY STRUCTURES:

AS1 GENERAL DESCRIPTION:
n/a

AS2 GENERAL DESCRIPTION:
n/a

CONTRIBUTING LANDSCAPE FEATURES:

GENERAL DESCRIPTION:
n/a
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	BRIEF HISTORICAL DESCRIPTION: Construction of the Geneva Grade School began in October 1915 and was substantially completed in October 1916. The school was designed by the Peoria-based architectural firm Hewitt & Emerson. 

Herbert Hewitt (1871-1944) established his architectural firm in 1897 and was joined by Frank Emerson (1876-1959) in 1909. Both men were educated at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT). Hewitt received additional instruction at the University of Illinois and the University of Chicago. Emerson received additional instruction at Princeton University and the Ecole des Beaux-Arts (Paris, France). Specializing in schools, the architectural firm designed numerous civic and residential commissions throughout central Illinois.

Although some accounts identify the Wilson Brothers as the contractors for the Geneva Grade School, they were outbid by C. W. Karr (Clinton, Illinois) and Goodale & Sons (Peru, Illinois) when the bids were opened in early October 1915. However, all bids were over the estimated $30,000 construction cost for the new school. Robert R. Fauntleroy, President of the School Board, requested options to cut construction costs, including the potential elimination of the gymnasium. When the bids were revised and additional monies secured for the gymnasium construction, the contract for construction was awarded to C. W. Karr, the low bidder at a cost of $29,033.25. 

Stakes for the foundation excavation were set before the end of October 1915; however, it was decided to turn the school building to the west, facing Fourth Street rather than Ford Street as originally planned. The completion of the foundation, and the erection of the exterior walls of structural clay tile were underway by mid-November 1915. By early December 1915, face brick arrived from Danville. Combined with limestone trim, the face brick veneer covered the structural tile walls. Work crews were "rushing to complete" the school building in August 1916 and all trim work was completed by the end of the month. Terrazzo floors were being installed at the beginning of September 1916—after the school term began—delaying the occupancy of the building by faculty and students.  

Local contractors involved in the construction included T. Wood (plumbing), Fred Hillquist (excavating, grading, and sidewalks), and J. A. Skoglund (interior shades). Brick was supplied by the Western Brick Co. (Danville, Illinois). 

The Geneva Grade School was occupied by mid-September, more than two months after completion was guaranteed and several weeks after the beginning of the school year. The school was the first of four schools constructed under the administration of educator and Superintendent Harry M. Coultrap from 1912-1950. 

Charles W. Karr (1874-1916), General Contractor, constructed many buildings in and around Decatur, Illinois. While erecting school buildings in Geneva and Mendota, Illinois (Mendota Township High School, completed in 1917 and demolished in 2002), Karr contracted pneumonia. A large man weighing more than 300 pounds, Karr died at the age of 42 in December 1916 as a result of his obesity and pneumonia. Karr's death occurred prior to the Geneva Grade School being completed, officially, and turned over to the school district.

The school was enlarged with the addition of five classrooms in 1950. Other improvements were made in 1965.

Between 1994 and 1999, the former Geneva Grade School (later, Fourth Street School) was converted to the administrative offices of Geneva Community Unit School District 304. At that time, windows were replaced along with other building modifications. In 2013, the former school building was renamed the Coultrap Educational Services Center in honor of former educator and Superintendent, Harry M. Coultrap.

The property is notable for its association with one or more significant persons, architecture (the work of Hewitt & Emerson), and community development—specifically the development of educational facilities in the Geneva community.
	SOURCES: Geneva Republican; The Ohio Architect, Engineer & Builder (Vol. 25, No. 2, pp. 9-44); Decatur Review (Decatur, Illinois: 26 December 1916, p. 10), 2016 North Geneva NRHP Update; Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps; Geneva, Illinois: A History of Its Times and Places
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	WINDOW MATERIAL: Undetermined 
	WINDOW STYLE: Fixed / Awning
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	OTHER SIGNIFICANT ARCHITECTURAL FEATURES: Limestone sills, lintels, entry pediments, coping, voussoirs, gridded medallions, and architectural details; decorative brick panels; glazed tile accent panels at entry pavilions. 
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